RECEIVED

08-04-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP0342-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

JOHNNY JEROME JONES,

Defendant-Appellant

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit the Honorable David L. Borowski, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KAITLIN A. LAMB Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085026 E-mail: lambk@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-4116 Telephone: (414) 227-4805

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED				
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION				
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS				
ARGUMENT				
I.	Mr. Jones Unequivocally Invoked His Right to Counsel and the Court Should Have Granted the Motion to Suppress His Statements.			
	A.	Legal principals and standard of review	8	
	B.	The circuit court's factual findings are clearly erroneous	9	
	C.	Mr. Jones unequivocally invoked his right to counsel.	11	
CONCLUSION				
CERTIFICATION AS TO FORM/LENGTH14				
		TE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE	4	
CERTIFICATION AS TO APPENDIX15				
ADDENIDIY 10				

CASES CITED

Davis v. United States,
512 U.S. 452 (1994)
Edwards v. Arizona,
451 U.S. 477 (1981)8
Miranda v. Arizona,
384 U.S. 436 (1966)
State v. Billings,
110 Wis. 2d 661, 329 N.W.2d 192 (1983) 10
State v. Dumas,
750 A.2d 420 (R.I. 2000)12
State v. Edler,
2013 WI 73, 350 Wis. 2d 1, 833 N.W.2d 564 12
State v. Jennings,
2002 WI 44, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d
142
State v. Lee,
413 F.3d 622 (7th Cir. 2005)12
State v. Stevens,
2012 WI 97, 343 Wis. 2d 157, 822 N.W.2d 79 13
State v. Subdiaz-Osorio,
2014 WI 87, Wis. 2d,
N.W.2d 12

State v. Walli,				
2011 WI App 86, 334 Wis. 2d 402, 799 N.W.2	2d			
898	9, 10			
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES CITED				
United States Constitution				
Fifth Amendment	8			
Fourteenth Amendment	8			
Wisconsin Statutes				
346.67	7			
346.67(1)	1			
346.74(5)(c)	. 1, 7			
346.74(5)(d)	1,7			
940.06(1)	1			
940.10(1)	7			

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did Johnny Jerome Jones unequivocally invoke his right to counsel when he said "so y'all can get a public pretender right now" during a custodial interrogation?

The circuit court denied the motion to suppress Mr. Jones's statements finding that he did not unequivocally invoke his right to counsel.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Whether Mr. Jones invoked his right to counsel is factspecific. Therefore, oral argument and publication is not warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Johnny Jerome Jones was charged with one count of second-degree reckless homicide, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.06(1), one count of duty upon striking an occupied or attended vehicle resulting in death, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.67(1) & 346.74(5)(d), and one count of duty upon striking occupied or attended vehicle resulting in great bodily harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.67(1) & 346.74(5)(c). (5:1-2).

The complaint alleged that on December 31, 2009, Milwaukee police officers in a marked squad car observed a Mercury Mountaineer that did not have a front license plate. (5:2). The officers turned behind the Mountaineer, which was owned by Mr. Jones's wife, and activated the squad's emergency lights. (5:2-4). The Mountaineer accelerated. The

squad then activated its siren and spotlight. The Mountaineer did not stop. Due to road conditions, the officers decided not to pursue the Mountaineer, turned off the lights and siren, and slowed the squad. (5:2). The Mountaineer continued to accelerate and eventually proceeded through a red stop light at an intersection, striking another car at approximately 2:30 a.m. This resulted in injury to the driver and the death of the passenger in the other car. (5:2-3, 6). One of the officers observed Maria Barber exit the front passenger door of the Mountaineer, and a person, later identified as Sean Moore, exit the Mountaineer and flee. (5:3). Moore, who was apprehended by the police after a chase, stated that Mr. Jones was the driver. (5:3, 5).

A surveillance video from a gas station, which was approximately 23 blocks away from the accident, reflected that at 2:26:16 a.m. Mr. Jones got into the driver's seat of the Mountaineer. The Mountaineer drove westbound and out of the range of the camera at 2:27:06 a.m. (5:4).

The police also interviewed several people who were not witnesses to the accident, but had allegedly seen Mr. Jones afterwards. Mr. Jones's grandmother, Almeta Brown, stated that she woke up and saw Mr. Jones on her living room couch with a cut on his forehead and blood on his face and mouth. Mr. Jones did not state if he was a passenger or the driver in the accident. (5:4-5). Sean Moore's girlfriend, Tierra Cole, stated that she picked Mr. Jones up from his grandmother's house and he was bleeding from his head, having trouble walking, was intoxicated, and told her that he was driving. (5:5). Portia Blackmon stated that Mr. Jones came to her residence and she saw a cut on his forehead and blood on his face and he told her that he had been driving. (5:5).

After the complaint was filed, Mr. Jones turned himself in to the police and stated that he was the driver of the Mountaineer. (74:31-32; 111:Exh. 1 & 2).

Mr. Jones waived his right to a preliminary hearing and was bound over for trial. (7: 66).

Suppression Proceedings

Prior to trial, the defense filed a motion to suppress asserting that Mr. Jones's statements to the police were not freely and voluntarily given because he was intoxicated and because police told Mr. Jones that "the most 'he could get' was 15 years." (13).

On August 24, 2011, a hearing was held on the motion to suppress. Detective James Hensley and Detective Charles Mueller testified for the State. (74:5-29). The State moved two recorded interviews of Mr. Jones, a *Miranda* warning card, and an arrest-detention report into evidence. (74:4-5, 18-19; 111). Mr. Jones also testified. (74:31-62).

During the hearing, trial counsel asserted that Mr. Jones's statements should also be suppressed because after he was read his *Miranda* rights, he said "Y'all can get me a public pretender now." (*See*, *e.g.*, 74:40-43). The statements on the recording are as follows:

DET.: You see the thing is Johnny, no one can, no one can speak for you, no one else, no witnesses, no one that was there.

MR. JONES: I know

DET.: We can't, nothing like that

¹ Mr. Jones is not pursuing this issue on appeal.

MR. JONES: I just feel so damn horrible

DET.: Well and that's, and that's why it's important to get your side out

MR. JONES: So y'all can get a public pretender right now²

DET.: You said it right, pretender...they're called public defenders

MR. JONES: Oh yeah

DET.: Um, we, obviously due to the time right now, we can't, um

MR. JONES: How much... time is that anyway, you face off reckless homicide

DET.: Well it's, I believe it's between the max is 15 years, I believe... [Interrogation continued].

(111:Exh. 1 at 28:50-29:56; App. 101) (emphasis added).

At the evidentiary hearing, Detective James Hensley, testified that he knew a "public pretender" was an appointed attorney and that Mr. Jones was referring to a lawyer. (74:15-16; App. 104-105).

Mr. Jones testified that he wanted a lawyer. Mr. Jones testified in pertinent part as follows:

TRIAL COUNSEL: Alright. Do you recall telling the detectives that ya'll can get me a public pretender now?

² Trial counsel's and the State's recitation of this line varied slightly. According to trial counsel's circuit court brief, Mr. Jones said "Y'all can get me a public pretender now." (26:1-2). According to the State's brief, Mr. Jones said "So you all gonna get a public pretender right now". (25:2).

MR. JONES: Yes. Because we made a joke. They made a joke right after that about it.

TRIAL COUNSEL: Well, what do you mean when you told them you could get me a public pretender right now?

MR. JONES: For them – for them to get me a lawyer right there because prior to this I've been trying to get a lawyer.

TRIAL COUNSEL: So did you get a lawyer at that point?

MR. JONES: No.

TRIAL COUNSEL: Why did you continue with the interview then?

MR. JONES: Because – because – I'm thinking like – like – like – like might as well, might as well go ahead and take the wrap for Sean. I was still going to take the wrap for Sean, though.

(74:37; App. 107; see also 74: 39-44, 47, 61-62; App. 108-116).

The circuit court denied the motion to suppress on the basis that the statements were not freely and voluntarily given (74:70-72), but ordered briefing on the "public pretender" statement. (74:73).

On September 2, 2011, the circuit court denied the motion to suppress based on Mr. Jones's "public pretender" statement. The court concluded that Mr. Jones's request was equivocal. (76:12; App. 128). The court found that Mr. Jones said "so y'all going to get a public pretender right now, sort of with a question mark at the end of it, and he says it in a sort of a joking manner." The court stated that "[t]o my ears, he

and the two detectives were laughing at this comment. It was said in a tone that was, in my view, not particularly serious from Mr. Jones." (76:8, 12; App. 124, 128). The court noted that Mr. Jones had been read his rights, he understood them, he "wanted to answer the questions badly," and had experience in the criminal justice system. (76:9-10; App. 125-126). The court also found that "I do believe that the detective knew that public pretender meant public defender." (76:9; App. 125).

Plea and Sentencing

After several adjournments,³ a jury trial began. However, after the completion of opening statements, a mistrial was granted on the grounds that Mr. Jones's attorney had previously represented a witness in the case. (79:28-30).

A second jury trial was set. Mr. Jones was appointed new counsel. After additional adjournments,⁴ a jury trial began. (94; 95). Prior to jury selection, the State indicated on the record that it made a global offer of 13 years of initial confinement followed by extended supervision to be determined by the court, restitution, and that the victim's family would be free to make an independent recommendation. (95:7, 9). Trial counsel stated that he believed the recommendation for extended supervision was

³ The reasons for adjournment included the withdrawal of Mr. Jones's original attorney due to the suspension of his law license (67), court calendar congestion (70:3, 6), the State's unavailability due to another speedy trial case (72:3-4), and the transfer of the case to a new court, resulting in the need for additional time to litigate a motion to suppress Mr. Jones's statements. (73:9, 15-16).

⁴ The reasons for adjournment included to give trial counsel additional time to prepare (82:3-4), and because trial counsel slipped on ice and was injured (84:2).

10 years. (95:8). The court then inquired whether Mr. Jones understood the agreement. During the court's exchange with Mr. Jones, he asked "can we go down on the plea," and the court indicated that it was "not here to negotiate." Mr. Jones rejected the plea. (95:10).

The following morning, May 22, 2012, Mr. Jones pled guilty to one count of homicide by negligent operation of a motor vehicle, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.10(1), one count of hit-and-run resulting in death, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.67 & 346.74(5)(d), and one count of hit-and-run resulting in great bodily harm, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 346.67 & 346.74(5)(c). (35; 96:4, 7-9). The State agreed to recommend 13 years of initial confinement with the length of extended supervision left to the discretion of the court, consecutive to any other sentence. (96:4-6).

After an adjournment of the sentencing hearing because Mr. Jones's attorney stated he was not prepared to proceed (97), the Honorable David Borowski imposed prison sentences of 10 years (5 years confinement and 5 years supervision) on the homicide by negligent operation of a motor vehicle count, 7 years (5 years confinement and 2 years supervision) on the hit-and-run resulting in death count, and 8 years (5 years confinement and 3 years supervision) on the hit-and-run resulting in great bodily harm count, all to run consecutive to each other and a revocation case. (98:37-39).

<u>Postconviction Proceedings</u>

Mr. Jones filed a postconviction motion seeking plea withdrawal on the grounds that prior to his plea trial counsel incorrectly advised him that the sentence in this case could not run consecutive to his revocation and that he would be entitled to 810 days of sentence credit in this case. (51; 52). After an evidentiary hearing, the Honorable David Borowski

denied the postconviction motion finding that trial counsel was not deficient and no prejudice existed. (100; 62).⁵

Additional relevant facts are referenced below.

ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Jones Unequivocally Invoked His Right to Counsel and the Court Should Have Granted the Motion to Suppress His Statements.
 - A. Legal principals and standard of review.

In *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 467-74 (1966), the United States Supreme Court recognized the right to have counsel present during custodial interrogations to safeguard the right against compulsory self-incrimination under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

Subsequently, in *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477, 484-85 (1981), the Supreme Court established a bright-line rule that when the accused requests counsel during a custodial interrogation, the police must immediately cease questioning. *Edwards* stated that "it is inconsistent with *Miranda* and its progeny for the authorities, at their instance, to reinterrogate an accused in custody if he has clearly asserted his right to counsel." *Id.* at 485.

Thirteen years later, in *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452, 458-59 (1994), the Supreme Court held that a suspect must clearly and unambiguously request counsel in order for the *Edwards* rule to apply. The court stated that "if a suspect makes a reference to an attorney that is ambiguous or equivocal in that a reasonable officer in light of the

⁵ Mr. Jones is not pursuing this issue on appeal.

circumstances would have understood only that the suspect might be invoking the right to counsel, our precedents do not require the cessation of questioning." *Id.* at 459.

Davis emphasized that whether a reference is equivocal is an objective inquiry. **Id.** "Although a suspect need not 'speak with the discrimination of an Oxford don,' he must articulate his desire to have counsel present sufficiently clearly that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney." **Id.** (internal citation omitted). Any lower standard "would transform the **Miranda** safeguards into wholly irrational obstacles to legitimate police investigative activity." **Id.** at 460 (citation omitted). Wisconsin adopted **Davis**'s test in **State v. Jenning**s, 2002 WI 44, ¶¶ 30, 36, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142.

When determining whether a defendant effectively invoked his right to counsel, an appellate court engages in a two-step analysis. The circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical facts are upheld unless clearly erroneous. *Jennings*, 252 Wis. 2d 288 at ¶ 20. The application of constitutional principals to the facts is reviewed independently. *Id*.

B. The circuit court's factual findings are clearly erroneous.

The circuit court's factual findings that Mr. Jones stated "so y'all going to get a public pretender right now" in "a sort of a joking manner," and then was "laughing at this comment" with the officers, are clearly erroneous and not supported by the record. (76:8; App. 124). *State v. Walli*, 2011 WI App 86, ¶¶ 14-17, 334 Wis. 2d 402, 799 N.W.2d

898 (a trial court's findings of fact based on a recording is reviewed using the clearly erroneous standard of review).⁶

An examination of the audio recording in this case does not support the circuit court's findings. Because the recording was admitted into evidence, this Court may make its own review of the recording like any other evidence in the record. *See State v. Billings*, 110 Wis. 2d 661, 671, 329 N.W.2d 192 (1983); *Walli*, 334 Wis. 2d 204, at ¶ 18.

The recording reflects that Mr. Jones actually stated "so y'all *can* get a public pretender right now". (111:Exh. 1 at 29:10; App. 126) (emphasis added). Mr. Jones did not state, as the circuit court found, "so y'all *going to* get a public pretender right now". (76:8; App. 124) (emphasis added). And, contrary to the circuit court's finding, Mr. Jones did not make the statement in a "joking manner" in the recording. Mr. Jones's tone was non-descriptive. (111:Exh. 1 at 29:10-29:56; App. 101). Further, it is not possible to tell from the recording who laughed—Mr. Jones or the officers. (111:Exh. 1 at 29:10-29:56; App. 101).

In addition, the suppression hearing testimony does not support the finding that the statement was made in a "joking manner." The State did not elicit any testimony from the officers or Mr. Jones describing his tone when he stated "so y'all can get a public pretender right now." Nor was there any testimony indicating who laughed. Rather, Mr. Jones testified that he "asked" for a public pretender "[b]ecause I thought

⁶ Mr. Jones does not dispute the circuit court's finding that he made the comment "sort of with a question mark at the end of it." (76:8; App. 124).

that you could get one during the course of the interview." (74:37; App. 107).

Thus, the circuit court's factual findings that Mr. Jones made his statement in a joking manner are clearly erroneous.

C. Mr. Jones unequivocally invoked his right to counsel.

Even if this Court finds that the circuit court's findings are not clearly erroneous, Mr. Jones unequivocally and unambiguously invoked his right to counsel, and questioning should have ceased.

Regardless of whether Mr. Jones said "so y'all can get a public pretender..." or "so y'all going to get a public pretender...," the statement was an unequivocal request for counsel. Under *Davis*, an unequivocal, unambiguous request for counsel is one "that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney." Davis v. United States, 512 U.S. 452, 459 (1994). Here, as Detective Hensley testified at the suppression hearing, he understood "public pretender" to mean an appointed attorney. (74:15; App. 104; 111; App. 101). If any ambiguity existed surrounding the meaning of a "public pretender," such ambiguity was eliminated when Detective Hensley responded "they're called public defenders" and Mr. Jones agreed, stating "Oh yeah". Consequently, a reasonable police officer would understand Mr. Jones's statement to be a request for an attorney. And,

⁷ When asked if he recalled "telling the detectives that ya'll can get me a public pretender now," Mr. Jones responded "Yes. Because we made a joke. They made a joke right after that about it." (74:37; App. 107). The meaning of Mr. Jones's statement "[b]ecause we made a joke" is unclear, as it is followed by "[t]hey made a joke after that about it."

based on the officer's statement in this case "Um, we, obviously due to the time right now, we can't, um," the officer clearly understood Jones's statement to be a request for an attorney.

Moreover, Mr. Jones's statement is analogous to "can I get an attorney," which courts have previously found to be an unequivocal request for counsel. *Compare with State v. Edler*, 2013 WI 73, ¶¶ 35-37, 350 Wis. 2d 1, 833 N.W.2d 564 (holding that "can my attorney be present for this," constituted an ambiguous, unequivocal invocation of the right to counsel); *State v. Lee*, 413 F.3d 622, 626 (7th Cir. 2005) (finding that "Can I have lawyer?" was a valid invocation of the right to counsel); *State v. Dumas*, 750 A.2d 420, 425 (R.I. 2000) (stating that the phrase "Can I get a lawyer?" is a reasonable and acceptable way to frame a request for counsel).

Mr. Jones did not state "maybe," "I think," or "how". Contrast with State v. Jennings, 2002 WI 44, ¶ 35, 36, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142 (holding that defendant's statement during custodial interrogation "I think maybe I need to talk to a lawyer," was ambiguous or equivocal and insufficient to invoke the right to counsel); State v. Subdiaz-Osorio, 2014 WI 87, ___ Wis. 2d ___, __ N.W.2d ___ (Per David T. Prosser, J., with five justices concurring solely in a mandate that the decision of the court of appeals is affirmed) (finding "how can I do to get an attorney here because I don't have enough to afford for one" equivocal). Rather, Mr. Jones's statement undisputedly included the phrase "get a public pretender." Mr. Jones did not need to "speak with the discrimination of an Oxford don." Davis, 512 U.S. at 459 (citation omitted).

Therefore, when Mr. Jones asked for "a public pretender," questioning should have ceased, and all of Mr. Jones's subsequent statements should have been suppressed. *See generally*, *State v. Stevens*, 2012 WI 97, ¶ 70, 343 Wis. 2d 157, 822 N.W.2d 79 (once a defendant invokes the right to counsel, an officer cannot approach the defendant again, cannot ask him whether he is willing to talk, and cannot administer a new *Miranda* warning).

CONCLUSION

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