RECEIVED

11-04-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS C O U R T $\,$ O F $\,$ A P P E A LOF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2014AP342-CR (Milwaukee County Cir. Ct. Case No. 2010CF69)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHNNY JEROME JONES,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. BOROWSKI PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER G. WREN Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1013313

Attorneys For Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

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

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT, UNDER THE ATTENDANT CIRCUMSTANCES THE QUESTION "SO Y'ALL CAN GET A PUBLIC PRETENDER RIGHT NOW?" DID NOT UNAMBIGUOUSLY OR UNEQUIVOCALLY INVOKE JONES'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

This appeal presents one issue: whether a question by Jones during a police interview on January 18, 2010, amounted to an unequivocal invocation of his right to counsel.⁴ The circuit court held that Jones did not unequivocally invoke his right to counsel. This court should affirm that decision.

The question — referring to "public pretender" — occurred during this exchange about thirty percent of the way into a one-and-three-quarter-hour interview (the first of two recorded interviews):

⁴ Jones acknowledges that his question occurred after he received his *Miranda* warning of rights. *See* Jones's Brief at 3. The record supports his concession. *See* 74:10-11 (transcript of suppression hearing); 111:Exh. 1, at 25:40 to 27:10 (audio recording of interview). During the suppression hearing, Jones testified that he had understood those rights (74:62).

DETECTIVE: You see the thing is, Johnny, is no one can, no one can speak for you. No one else, no witnesses, no one that was there.

JONES: I know.

DETECTIVE: We can't, nothing like that.

JONES: I just feel so damn horrible.

DETECTIVE: Well and that's, and that's why . . .

JONES: So . . .

DETECTIVE: ... it's important to get your side out.

JONES: So y'all can get a public pretender right

now?[5]

[LAUGHTER]

DETECTIVE: You said it right, pretender . . .

[LAUGHTER]

DETECTIVE: ... they're called public defenders.

JONES: Oh yeah.

DETECTIVE: Um, we ca-, obviously due to the time

right now, [6] we can't, um . . .

In his appellate brief, Jones notes that "[t]rial counsel's and the State's recitation of this line varied slightly. According to trial counsel's circuit court brief, Mr. Jones said 'Y'all can get me a public pretender now.' (26:1-2). According to the State's brief, Mr. Jones said 'So you all gonna get a public pretender right now'. (25:2)." Jones's Brief at 4 n.2. The circuit court heard the question as "so y'all going to get a public pretender right now, sort of with a question mark at the end of it" (76:8). State's appellate counsel listened to the question many times (including through headphones, to block out external noise) and heard the question as transcribed in the text accompanying this footnote. During the suppression hearing, Jones characterized the remark as a question (74:47).

[BRIEF SILENCE]

JONES: How, how much, how much time is it anyway, you face off of reckless homicide?

DETECTIVE: Well it's, I believe it's between, the max is 15 years. I believe. Now I'm not, don't quote me on that, but . . .

JONES: [Interview continues]

(111:Exh. 1, at 28:51 to 29:52 (footnotes added).)

At the beginning of the hearing on Jones's suppression motion (74), the circuit court stated, "For the record I've listened to the interviews, both of the interviews that were conducted in this case" (74:3). When the court decided to deny Jones's motion, the court said, "I also, again, listened to the portion of the interview, the portion of the interrogation that's questioned, specifically the language from the defendant about a 'public pretender' (76:3). Later, the court explained its assessment of the question:

For the record, as indicated, I did review the briefs that were submitted by both sides. I also reviewed the case law in Wisconsin including the *Jennings* case. Beyond that I reviewed the *Markwardt* decision, along with the *Fischer* case.

I will note, first of all, that in the argument presented by both sides, there's a disagreement between the State and the defense as to what was exactly said. And it's important in the Court's analysis because, beyond reading the Wisconsin cases, I spent a bit of time yesterday, had a law clerk assist me with some additional research on some cases at the feder-

(footnote continues from previous page)

⁶ The interview began shortly after 1:18 a.m. (111:Exh. 1, at 00:10 to 00:12).

al level that also discuss the request for an attorney and whether or not a defendant's statement or request for counsel is unequivocal.

And I think it is important in my analysis to put this in context and to be very careful about exactly what was said by the defendant, The defense argues that Mr. Jones said, "y'all can get me a public pretender now". The State argues that the defendant said "so y'all going to get a public pretender right now."

And there is a difference. I've listened to that portion of the CD at least half-a-dozen times. The defendant clearly says "so y'all going to get a public pretender right now." He does not say, "you all can get me a public defender now." And he says it clearly in what I interpret to be effectively a joking tone.

To my ears, and I listened to the CD many times, he makes the comment, so y'all going to get a public pretender right now, sort of with a question mark at the end of it, and he says it in a sort of a joking manner. To my ears, he and the two detectives were laughing at this comment. It was said in a tone that was, in my view, not particularly serious from Mr. Jones. It was answered by the detective as pretty much along the lines you said it right "pretender", with a very short pause, they are called public defenders. And the defendant says, oh, yeah, or something to that effect.

The detective says due to the time right now, we can't pause this for a short period of time. The defendant then continues and asks the question of how much time can I get for this any ways; how much do I face for this homicide. The detective then goes on and says he believes it's 15 years but don't quote me on that and it goes on from there.

(76:7-9.)

Mr. Jones is someone who, frankly, does have experience in the criminal justice system. This was not the first time he had been involved in the criminal justice system. It appears it was certainly not the first time he was being interrogated. And, in my

view, he was specifically along the lines of what the State argued as part of the "thrust and parry" between the detectives and the defendant using his term; a slang, derogatory, joking fashion. It was meant to be used in a slang fashion. It was meant to be derogatory. It was meant to be insulting to the capabilities or lack thereof of public defenders.

And the analysis of what he said is also important because, in looking at the Wisconsin decisions and some federal cases, the State is correct. Obviously, the long line of cases, both at the federal level and the Wisconsin courts after the *Miranda* decision, make it clear that the defendant, as someone being interrogated as Mr. Jones was, needs to make his request in unequivocal fashion. He needs to articulate his request for an attorney clearly.

(76:9-10.)

The bottom line is I do not believe this was an unequivocal request under the circumstances. I think that this defendant, Mr. Jones, was joking around with the officers. He and they laughed to my ears at his derogatory, slang phrase, this insulting phrase about public defenders. I think this was a situation where he was, if there was any request, whatsoever, I'm not sure that there was, it was very equivocal. It was certainly not an unequivocal request. It was part of the thrust and parry, which is indicated by the context and the circumstances, including that very, very shortly before this comment, which beyond what I've said already, was said in almost a rhetorical kind of odd fashion.

Clearly, again to my ears, Mr. Jones and the detectives, all three of them were laughing at his comment about a public pretender. It was thrust and parry. It was not an unequivocal request.

The State has met their burden in this case. The motion to suppress the statement is denied on this ground and on the grounds that we dealt with last week. . . .

(76:12.)

Under controlling court decisions (cited and discussed below), the circuit court correctly denied Jones's motion. Under the standards for reviewing a circuit court's exercise of discretion (pp. 2-3, above) and for reviewing a circuit court's decision whether to deny or grant a suppression motion (pp. 3-6, above), this court should affirm the circuit court's order.

In *Davis v. United States*, 512 U.S. 452 (1994), the Supreme Court of the United States set out the "clear articulation rule" for invoking the right to counsel after a defendant has received the *Miranda*⁷ warning of rights:

The applicability of the "rigid' prophylactic rule" of *Edwards*^[8] requires courts to "determine whether the accused *actually invoked* his right to counsel." *Smith v. Illinois, supra*, 469 U.S., at 95 (emphasis added), quoting *Fare v. Michael C.*, 442 U.S. 707, 719 (1979). To avoid difficulties of proof and to provide guidance to officers conducting interrogations, this is an objective inquiry. See *Connecticut v. Barrett, supra*, at 529. Invocation of the *Miranda* right to counsel "requires, at a minimum, some statement that can reasonably be construed to be an expression

⁷ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

⁸ Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981).

of a desire for the assistance of an attorney." *McNeil v. Wisconsin*, 501 U.S., at 178. But if a suspect makes a reference to an attorney that is ambiguous or equivocal in that a reasonable officer in light of the circumstances would have understood only that the suspect *might* be invoking the right to counsel, our precedents do not require the cessation of questioning. See *ibid*. ("[T]he *likelihood* that a suspect would wish counsel to be present is not the test for applicability of *Edwards*"); *Edwards v. Arizona*, *supra*, 451 U.S., at 485 (impermissible for authorities "to reinterrogate an accused in custody if he has *clearly asserted* his right to counsel") (emphasis added).

Rather, the suspect must unambiguously request counsel. As we have observed, "a statement either is such an assertion of the right to counsel or it is not." Smith v. Illinois, 469 U.S., at 97-98 (brackets and internal quotation marks omitted). Although a suspect need not "speak with the discrimination of an Oxford don," post, at 476 (SOUTER, J., concurring in judgment), he must articulate his desire to have counsel present sufficiently clearly that a reasonable police officer in the circumstances would understand the statement to be a request for an attorney. If the statement fails to meet the requisite level of clarity, Edwards does not require that the officers stop questioning the suspect. See Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 433, n. 4 (1986) ("[T]he interrogation must cease until an attorney is present only [i]f the individual states that he wants an attorney") (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

Id. at 458-59 (footnote added).

The *Edwards* rule—questioning must cease if the suspect asks for a lawyer—provides a bright line that can be applied by officers in the real world of investigation and interrogation without unduly hampering the gathering of information. But if we were to require questioning to cease if a suspect makes a statement that *might* be a request for an attorney, this clarity and ease of application would be

lost. Police officers would be forced to make difficult judgment calls about whether the suspect in fact wants a lawyer even though he has not said so, with the threat of suppression if they guess wrong. We therefore hold that, after a knowing and voluntary waiver of the *Miranda* rights, law enforcement officers may continue questioning until and unless the suspect clearly requests an attorney.

Of course, when a suspect makes an ambiguous or equivocal statement it will often be good police practice for the interviewing officers to clarify whether or not he actually wants an attorney. That was the procedure followed by the NIS agents in this case. Clarifying questions help protect the rights of the suspect by ensuring that he gets an attorney if he wants one, and will minimize the chance of a confession being suppressed due to subsequent judicial second-guessing as to the meaning of the suspect's statement regarding counsel. But we decline to adopt a rule requiring officers to ask clarifying questions. If the suspect's statement is not an unambiguous or unequivocal request for counsel, the officers have no obligation to stop questioning him.

To recapitulate: We held in *Miranda* that a suspect is entitled to the assistance of counsel during custodial interrogation even though the Constitution does not provide for such assistance. We held in *Edwards* that if the suspect invokes the right to counsel at any time, the police must immediately cease questioning him until an attorney is present. But we are unwilling to create a third layer of prophylaxis to prevent police questioning when the suspect *might* want a lawyer. *Unless the suspect actually requests an attorney, questioning may continue*.

Id. at 461-62 (emphases added). See also Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 381-82 (2010).

"Wisconsin courts have merged the *Davis* 'clear articulation rule' into Wisconsin jurisprudence with respect to a suspect's invocation of the right to counsel. *See State v. Coerper*, 199 Wis. 2d 216,

223, 544 N.W.2d 423, 426 (1996)." *State v. Ross*, 203 Wis. 2d 66, 75, 552 N.W.2d 428 (Ct. App. 1996). *See also State v. Markwardt*, 2007 WI App 242, ¶ 26 n.7, 306 Wis. 2d 420, 742 N.W.2d 546 (noting "clear articulation rule" for invoking right to counsel adopted in Wisconsin).

If a suspect's statement is susceptible to "reasonable competing inferences" as to its meaning, then the "suspect did not sufficiently invoke the right to remain silent." Markwardt, 306 Wis. 2d 420, ¶ 36 (citation omitted). If a suspect makes such an ambiguous or equivocal statement, "police are not required to end the interrogation . . . or ask questions to clarify whether the accused wants to invoke his or her Miranda rights." Berghuis, 560 U.S. at 381 (citing Davis, 512 U.S. at 461-62).

State v. Cummings, 2014 WI 88, ¶ 51, ___ Wis. 2d ___, 850 N.W.2d 915. "[T]he unequivocal invocation standard is an objective test." *Id.* ¶ 50 (citing *Berghuis*).

[T]he sufficiency of the defendant's invocation of his right to counsel . . . is a question of constitutional fact that [an appellate court] review[s] under a two-part standard. [An appellate court] uphold[s] the circuit court's findings of historical or evidentiary fact unless they are clearly erroneous. [An appellate court] review[s] independently the lower court's application of constitutional principles to those evidentiary facts.

State v. Jennings, 2002 WI 44, ¶ 20, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 NW 2d 142 (citations omitted).

In assessing the sufficiency of a defendant's invocation, context matters. See, e.g., United States v. Wysinger, 683 F.3d 784, 794-95 (7th Cir. 2012) ("In this context, a reasonable officer might not understand Wysinger's initial reference to an at-

torney as an unequivocal request for a lawyer."); United States v. Hampton, 675 F.3d 720, 727 (7th Cir. 2012) ("Whether a suspect clearly invoked his right to counsel is an objective inquiry. We have emphasized that the 'analysis does not end with words alone; ... we also consider the circumstances in which the statement was made." (citations omitted)); United States v. Peters, 435 F.3d 746, 752 (7th Cir. 2006) ("the context of Peters's statement does not clarify its meaning"); United States v. Muhammad, 120 F.3d 688, 697-98 (7th Cir. 1997) (describing circumstances showing that defendant's reference to "an attorney" did not unambiguously invoke right to counsel); Lord v. Duckworth, 29 F.3d 1216, 1221 (7th Cir. 1994) ("[T]he context in which [the suspect] made reference to a lawyer also supports the conclusion that any request for counsel was ambiguous..."); **Jennings**, 252 Wis. 2d 228, ¶ 22 ("The central evidentiary findings relevant to the suppression motion concern the circumstances surrounding Jennings' mid-interrogation statement to Detective Kreitzmann, 'I think maybe I need to talk to a lawyer."); State v. Fischer, 2003 WI App 5, ¶ 19, 259 Wis. 2d 799, 656 N.W.2d 503 ("[W]e conclude that Fischer's statement to detectives that if the officers read him his rights he would not answer any questions and would request an attorney is sufficiently ambiguous or equivocal such that a reasonable officer in light of the circumstances would have understood only that Fischer *might* be invoking the right to counsel." (first emphasis added)); **Jennings**, 252 Wis. 2d 228, ¶ 36 ("I think maybe I need to talk to a lawyer" not an unequivocal invocation of right to counsel);

State of Wisconsin

Brief of Plaintiff- Respondent

Here, Jones's question did not amount to an unequivocal or unambiguous invocation of the right to counsel. The circuit court described the circumstances surrounding Jones's question:

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